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MEMORANDUM

DuBA S, J. JULY 16, 1997

Maria Ranbs and Elizabeth Ranpbs each petition this Court,
pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2255, to vacate, set aside, or correct
their sentences. Maria and Eli zabeth Ranps were tried t oget her and
bot h convicted of drugrelated crines. |In separate Petitions filed
May 17, 1995, each raised nunerous clains. At a hearing on March
14, 1997, each knowi ngly, voluntarily and intelligently waived all
but two clains on advice of counsel after an extensive colloquy.
Inthe first of the two remaining clains they each argue that their
separate trial counsel were ineffective for failing to object to
the adm ssion of, or, in the alternative, failing to request a
[imting instruction regardi ng testinony concerning the extrenely
vi ol ent behavi or of several co-conspirators. Secondly, petitioners
object tothe Governnent's failuretofile anotionto reduce their
sent ences under Federal Rule of Crim nal Procedure 35(b). Because

the Court finds that trial counsel were not constitutionally



ineffectiveintheir representati on of petitioners, and because t he
Governnent did not act inappropriately in electing not to file a

notion under Rule 35, the Court will deny the Petitions.

| . Backgr ound

Petitioner Maria Ranpbs, her daughter, petitioner Elizabeth
Ranpos, and Mari a Ranps' three sons, Richard, Jerry and Edwi n Ranos,
were |eaders of the Ranpbs Cocaine Organization ("RCO') which
t hrough the enploynment of over one hundred workers, distributed
massi ve anounts of cocaine and crack cocaine in the Spring Garden
area of Phil adel phia, Pennsylvania between 1985 and Sept enber of
1990. At its peak in the Summer of 1989 the RCO had organized
around the cl ock sal es of cocai ne and crack cocaine in three daily
ei ght-hour shifts and sold over $15,000 of cocai ne and $20, 000 of
crack cocai ne each day. Indictnent at § 29.

Petitioners and thirty-nine (39) other persons were charged
W th conspiracy to distribute cocai ne and cocai ne base in violation
of 21 U.S.C. &8 846 and other drug related crines.® Excepting
petitioners (and one person agai nst whom charges were di sm ssed)
each defendant plead guilty. After a joint trial Maria and
El i zabet h Ranbs wer e convi cted of conspiracy to distribute cocai ne
and cocai ne base. Maria Ranpbs was al so convicted of distribution

of cocai ne and possession of cocaine with intent to distribute,

Thirty Nine persons were charged in the Indictment filed on
Sept enber 18, 1990. Maria and Elizabeth Ranpos (and three of the
original defendants) were charged in the Supersedi ng |Indictnent
filed on May 28, 1991.



both in violation of 21 U.S.C. 8§ 841(a)(1). On February 25, 1993
Maria Ranbs was sentenced to life inprisonnent. Elizabeth Ranps

was sentenced on February 25, 1993 to 324 nmonths in prison. 2

[I. Petitioners' Cains Regarding Violent Testinony

A. Factual Background

Petitioners contend that their trial counsel were ineffective
for failing to object to the adm ssion of testinony regarding
violent activities and, after the testinony was received in
evidence, for failing to request a limting instruction. The
testinony at issue concerns three episodes of violent conduct
undertaken by several RCO co-conspirators; Miria Ranbs was not
involved in two of those incidents and Elizabeth Ranps did not
partake in any of the three occurrences.

Petitioners first object tothe testinony of three cooperating
governnment w tnesses regarding the attack on a nman known as
"Capone" on or about March 16, 1990. David Serrano, Dani el Serrano
and Jesse Ranpbs, Maria Ranps' nephew, all nenbers of the RCO and
i ndi cted co-conspirators, described how the Serrano brothers and
Jerry Ranbs w apped Capone's hands, feet and head in duct tape

"l'i ke a munmy" and beat him Jesse Ranpbs, Feb. 5, 1992, Tr. at

’Because the petitions were filed on May 17, 1995, before
the Anti-Terrorismand Effective Death Penalty Act ("AEDPA")
becane effective on April 24, 1996, the Court need not address
the applicability of the AEDPA s one-year statute of limtations
to the petitions. See Lindh v. Mirphy, No. 96-6298, 1997 W
338568, *8 (U.S. June 23, 1997) (holding that anendnents to
Chapter 153 of AEDPA are not retroactive).
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206-08; see also David Serrano, Jan. 31, 1992, Tr. at 149-51
Dani el Serrano, Feb. 3, 1992, Tr. at 120-21. The beating was so
brutal that Jesse Ranpbs sai d he coul d not watch, and turned away in
shock. Feb. 5, 1992, Tr. at 206-208. David Serrano described how
he used pliers to extract Capone's teeth; the three then referred
to Capone as "Qumby."® Jan. 31, 1992, Tr. at 149-51. Maria and
El i zabeth Ranpbs did not participate in this attack.

Secondly, petitioners object to the adm ssion of testinony by
Virginia Navarro concerning violence. Virginia Navarro descri bed
a beating of her husband | ate in the evening of July 7, 1989 by 16
people. Feb. 5, 1992, Tr. at 15-16. Navarro's husband was hit
wi t h basebal | bats resulting in bleeding"everywhere throughout his
head because they broke his head three tines." 1d. Petitioners
did not participate in this episode.

Lastly, petitioners object totestinony of David Vel asquez and
Marco Villafane, both indicted co-conspirators and cooperating
governnent w tnesses, about the beating of Anthony Vel asquez by

Mari a and Ri chard Ranps and others in a hotel on or about Septenber

*David Serrano's testinony about renpving Capone's teeth

with pliers was particularly detail ed:
| got themin his nouth, and then when | got themin his
mouth, | started pressing on the grip of the pliers real
hard because it was |like on his teeth. Then when | pressed
real hard, like grips, they snapped. It was like, this
teeth, like this, psssh, they blew up. You know, | was
trying to pull themat first but I couldn't. Then when I
stuck themup in his nmouth, his teeth started bl ow ng up
like crushing themlike you would crush a rock. So then his
teeth started exploding in ny hands, and | kept sticking
themin his nouth, exploding them

Jan. 31, 1992, Tr. at 149-151.



25, 1988. David Vel asquez expl ai ned t hat Ant hony, his brother, was
beat en because Richard Ranbs suspected that Anthony had stolen
drugs fromthe RCO. Feb. 7, 1992, Tr. at 50-51. David Vel asquez
descri bed that Anthony had a swollen face and his fingernails were
"pulled out.” 1d. at 51. Additionally, David Vel asquez rel ated
that his brother reported that Maria Ranos had kicked himin the
face. 1d. at 52. Marco Villafane conpleted the story, explaining
that shortly after the beating of Anthony, he heard a runor that
Ant hony was killed. 1d. at 105.

B. Legal Analysis
Feder al prisoners may properly raise allegations of

i neffectiveness of counsel ina 8 2255 petition. See United States

v. DeRewal , 10 F.3d 100, 103-04 (3d G r. 1993), cert. denied, 511

U S. 1033 (1994) (finding that a § 2255 petitioner is not held to

the cause and prejudice standard of United States v. Frady, 456

U S 152 (1982), if the ineffective assistance claimis raised in

the first instance in a 8 2255 notion). Under Strickland v.

Washi ngton, 466 U S 668 (1984), a petitioner alleging

i neffectiveness of counsel nust nmake a twofold showing in order to
denonstrate a violation of the Sixth Amendnent right to counse

warranting reversal of a conviction and a new trial. First, a
petitioner nust establish that counsel's performance was so
deficient that it falls below "an objective standard of
reasonabl eness. " See id. at 688. Second, a petitioner nust

denonstrate that counsel's "deficient performance prejudiced the
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defense;" that is, there is a reasonable probability that the
result woul d have been di fferent but for the deficient performance.
Id. at 687.

Petitioners maintainthat their trial counsel wereineffective
for failing to file anotionin limne to preclude the Governnent
fromintroducing the testinony of violent acts or to object to the
adm ssion of such testinony. Inplicit in Petitioners' § 2255
Mot i ons, and argued by counsel at the March 14, 1997 hearing, are
the clainms that trial counsel were ineffective because, once the
chal | enged testinony was received in evidence, counsel did not
request either alimting instruction fromthe Court at that tine
or ajury instruction for inclusion in the Court's charge advi sing
the jury of the limted purposes for which the testinony could be
consi dered.® These cl ains are based on the contention that Federal
Rul e of Evidence 404(b) barred the adm ssion of the testinony at
i ssue and, even if the testi nony was adm ssi bl e under that Rule, it
shoul d have been excluded under Federal Rule of Evidence 403.
Counsel s' errors, petitioners maintain, were so prejudicial that
they affected the result of the trial.

The Court first concludes that all of the testinony at issue

was adm ssi bl e, consistent with Rul e 404(b) and Rul e 403, and t hat

‘Petitioners expressly contended in their Mtions that
because the evidence was barred by Rule 404(b) or Rule 403 their
trial counsel were ineffective for failing to ask the Court to
instruct the jury that they could not consider the chall enged
testinony at all. The Court need not consider that claimin
light of the Court's conclusion that the testinony at issue was
not barred by either Rule 404(b) or Rule 403.
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petitioners' counsel were not deficient infailingto file notions
in limne or to object to the testinony. Second, the Court
concl udes that counsel were not constitutionally ineffective for
failing to request a |limting instruction or an instruction for
inclusion in the Court's charge to the jury: because there was
overwhel m ng evidence against petitioners, and because the
prosecutors thensel ves explained to the jury the |imted purposes
for the testinony, the Court concludes that petitioners were not
prej udi ced by counsel's failure to ask for an instruction to the
jury. O herw se stated, had such an instructi on been given, there
is not a reasonable probability that the result woul d have been
different. Thus, with respect to counsels' failure to nove for a
[imting instruction (either imedi ately after the testinony or as
part of the jury charge) the Court concl udes that counsel were not
constitutionally ineffective. Petitioners' clainms relatingtothe
testinony of violent acts wll therefore be deni ed.

At the outset, the Court reiterates that, excepting only the
attack on Ant hony Vel asquez, in which Mari a Ranos partici pated, the
testinony challenged did not directly involve petitioners, but
rather involved the activities of petitioners' co-conspirators.
(Petitioners did, however, participate in or condone ot her viol ent
acts). Theinport of this distinction, that is, that a mpjority of
the chal l enged testinony did not directly concern the actions of
the petitioners, is that the issue is nost appropriately addressed
not under Rule 404(b) but within the rubric of Rule 403. As

explained infra, Rule 404(b) is inapplicable because the violent
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acts which were the subject of the challenged testinony were in
furtherance of and intrinsic to the overarching conspiracy for
whi ch petitioners were charged.”> Thus, the clai mthat petitioners
wer e prejudi ced by the i ntroduction of testinony regardi ng bad acts
committed by their co-conspirators will be wei ghed under Rul e 403.

See United States v. Brady, 26 F.3d 282, 287-82 (2d GCir.) (after

determ ning that evidence of crinmes conmtted by cooperating co-
conspirators was not within the scope of Rule 404(b), the Court
anal yzed that evidence under Rule 403, concluding that it was
adm ssi bl e because it was probative of the existence and nature of

t he conspiracy and was not unduly prejudicial), cert. denied, 513

U S. 894 (1994).

1. Adnissibility of Chall enged Testi nony - Rule 404(b)

"As a general rule, "all relevant evidence is adm ssible,"’
Fed. R Evid. 402, and evidenceis 'relevant' if its existence sinply
has sone 'tendency to nmake the existence of any fact that is of
consequence to the determ nation of the action nore probable or
| ess probable than it would be w thout the evidence.' Fed.R Evid.

401." United States v. Murray, 103 F.3d 310, 316 (3d Cr. 1997).

°Mor eover, the Court notes but does not rely upon the line
of cases holding that, in the conspiracy context, although sone
courts have ruled that Rule 404(b) is not |[imted to other bad
acts commtted by "parties,” evidence of other acts by co-
conspirators ordinarily does not raise any Rule 404(b) questions
because proof of acts of a co-conspirator normally does not taint
the character of a defendant by virtue of the defendant's
associ ation with that co-conspirator. See 22 C. Wight & K
G aham Federal Practice and Procedure, 8 5239, at 451 (1978).
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Rul e 404(b) restricts the adm ssion of relevant evidence in
particular instances. That rule provides as follows:
evi dence of other crines, wongs or acts is not adm ssible to
prove the character of the person in order to show that he
acted inconformty therewith. It may be admi ssi bl e for other
pur poses, such as proof of notive, opportunity, intent,
preparation, plan, know edge, identity, or absence of m stake
or acci dent.
Fed. R Evid. 404(b). Under Rule 404(b) testinony is barredif it is
offered only to permt the jury to infer that because soneone
previously conmtted bad acts, that person is of unfavorable
character and nore likely to have commtted the crine charged. See

Murray, 103 F.3d at 316; United States v. Sriyuth, 98 F.3d 739, 747

(3d Cir. 1996), cert. denied, 117 S. C. 1016 (1997); United States

v. Scarfo, 850 F.2d 1015, 1018-19 (3d Gir. 1988), cert. denied, 488

U S. 910 (1988).

Petitioners object to the admssion of the testinony
concerning the violence under Rule 404(b), because they believe
t hat such evidence only had the effect of tainting their character,
either directly or because they associated with persons who
comrmitted such acts, and thus naking it appear in the eyes of the
jury that they had a propensity to commit the crines charged.
However, petitioners' argunent is based on a m sapprehensi on of the
Governnent's case and Rule 404(b). Rule 404(b) is not inplicated
in the case because the violent acts at issue are in furtherance of
t he crime charged, the conspiracy, and thus i ndependently rel evant.

When presented with simlar facts, many courts have hel d t hat

acts in furtherance of a conspiracy are properly admtted as



evidence of the charged conspiracy and that Rule 404(b) is

therefore inapplicable. In United States v. Thai, 29 F. 3d 785 (2d

Cir. 1994), cert. denied sub nom, Tran v. United States, 513 U. S
977 (1994), and Do v. United States, 513 U S. 993 (1994), for

exanpl e, the court explained that testinony about a bl oody beating
adm ni stered to a co-conspi rat or because he was suspect ed of havi ng
retai ned robbery proceeds was evi dence of the disciplineinposed by
the | eaders of the enterprise on the rank-and-file nmenbers of the
conspiracy and, as such, was evi dence of acts in furtherance of the
conspiracy and not evidence of "other" acts within the neani ng of

Rul e 404(b). 1d. at 812-13; see also United States v. Concepci on,

983 F. 2d 369, 392 (2d G r. 1992) (testinony regardi ng defendant's
offer to kill a rival was relevant to his concern for the
conspiracy's retail operations and the | engths to which he woul d go
to defend them and was not "other act" evidence wthin nmeani ng of

404(b)), cert. denied sub nom, Frias v. United States, 510 U.S.

856 (1993); 2 Winstein's Federal Evidence 8 404.06[5], at 404-49
to 404-53.°
Al so instructive are the anal ogous cases in which courts have

held that Rule 404(b) limts the adm ssion of evidence of other

®The case at bar is clearly distinguishable from United
States v. Murray, 103 F.3d 310 (3d G r. 1997), a case deci ded
after the parties had submtted their briefs, because the
Governnent in this case nade a show ng that the violent acts were
orchestrated to further the conspiracy, and that petitioners had
participated in other acts of violence for the same purpose. To
the contrary, in Mirray, the Third Crcuit held that there was no
evi dence supporting a Iink between the charged conspiracy and
testinony regarding a nurder, which the court held was barred
under Rule 404(b). 1d. at 317-18.
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acts extrinsic to the ones charged but that acts intrinsic to the

charged crinme are not proscribed by Rul e 404(b). See United States

v. Chin, 83 F.3d 83, 87 (4th Cir. 1996) (citing cases).’ \Wen the
other acts "occurred at different tinmes and under different
circunstances from the offense charged,” they are extrinsic;

intrinsic acts "are those that are part of a single crimnal

episode."” United States v. Barnes, 49 F.3d 1144, 1149 (6th Gr.
1995). Thus, an act isintrinsic tothe charged act or crinme if it
isinextricably intertwined wth the charged act or crine, inthis
case, the conspiracy, or is necessary to conplete a coherent story

of the crinme charged. See, e.qg., United States v. Lanbert, 995

F.2d 1006, 1007-08 (10th G r.) (testinony regardi ng undertaki ng of
a robbery was intrinsic to the robbery charge and was not excl uded

by Rul e 404(b)), cert. denied, 510 U S. 926 (1993); United States

v. Mihammad, 928 F.2d 1461, 1468 (7th Cr. 1991) (finding that

404(b) was not inplicated because testinony concerning a shooting
i ncident was presented to the jury to put the charged crine in

context); see also United States v. Bl yden, 964 F. 2d 1375, 1378 (3d

Gr. 1992).

I'n United States v. Conley, 878 F. Supp. 751 (WD. Pa.
1994), the court noted that although the Third G rcuit had
nei t her consi dered nor adopted the "'"intrinsic/extrinsic'
evi dence threshold” in the 404(b) analysis, virtually every other
circuit court and district court wwthin the Third Grcuit has
enpl oyed that standard. [d. at 755 (citing cases); see also
Fed. R Evid. 404(b), Advisory Conmttee's Note to the 1991
Amendnent (explaining that Rule 404(b) does not extend to
evi dence of acts which are intrinsic to the charged offense); 2
Weinstein's Federal Evidence 8§ 404.05, at 404-36 to 404-37 (2d
ed. 1997) (citing cases).
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In Chin the defendant was convicted of conspiring to

di stribute heroinin violation of 21 U . S.C. § 846. 83 F.3d at 86.
He contended on appeal that testinony by a witness that Chin
engaged in contract nmurder and that "his people” were responsible
for a particular nmurder was admtted in violation of Rule 404(b).
Id. at 87. The Fourth Crcuit rejected Chin's argunent, hol ding
that Rul e 404(b) did not apply on the ground that the testi nony was
intrinsic to the conspiracy charge because "[Kk]illing peopl e was an
integral part of Chin's crimnal enterprise, including his heroin
busi ness, and the threat of killing [was] viewed as necessary to
ensure that deal s were conpl eted wi thout problens arising."” [d. at

88; see also United States v. Chandler, 996 F.2d 1073, 1101 (11th

Cr. 1993) (concluding that evidence of threats was adm ssible
because such threats were uncharged offenses that arose from the
same transaction as the charged offense, a marijuana trafficking
operation, and were necessary to conplete the story of the crine);

United States v. Church, 955 F.2d 688, 700 (11th G r.) (hol ding

t hat evi dence of a conspiracy to nurder defendant's partner was not
subject to Rule 404(b) analysis but was "intrinsic" to another
conspiracy to nurder, which was a predicate act charged in the
i ndi ctment, the explanation of which would have been "inconpl ete”
wi t hout know edge of the conspiracy to nurder the partner), cert.

deni ed sub nom, Coppola v. United States, 506 U. S. 881 (1992);

United States v. Mathis, No. 93-454-01, 1994 W 413142, *4-*5 (E. D.

Pa. Aug. 5, 1994) (holding that Rule 404(b) is not inplicated when

testinony regarding "elimnating witnesses" is not extrinsictothe
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crime charged but is inextricably intertwined with charge of
conspiracy to commit armed robbery). ®

As in Thai, Chin and the other cases cited herein, violence

was an essential part of the RCO and integral to furthering the
conspiracy. The three incidents of violence at i ssue characteri zed
how the RCO maintained its control of the Spring Garden area
t hrough intimdation. David Serrano, the RCOs "enforcer,"
testified that R chard Ranbs paid himto attack Capone because
Capone owed Richard noney, had sl apped his sister Elizabeth, and
was the | eader of a different drug organi zation. Jan 31, 1992, Tr.
at 151-52. Jesse Ranps explained that Richard Ranbs nmade him
wi tness the attack on Capone and then, referring to the $10, 000
Ri chard accused Jesse of taking fromhim remarked to Jesse, "You
know what | can do now. ... Wen you gonna pay nme ny noney?" |d.
at 208-09. Simlarly, further illustrating that violence was an
essential part of protecting the RCO David Vel asquez testified
that his brother, Anthony, was beaten by Maria and Ri chard Ranos
after Ri chard Ranpbs suspected that Anthony had stolen drugs from
the Organi zati on. See David Vel asquez, Feb. 7, 1992, Tr. at 50-52
("He had told nme that Richie found out that he had rob -- or robbed
them so they tied himup and they beat himup in order to get the

drugs back.")

8See also United States v. Massie, No. 95-5564, 1997 W
107743, *1-*2 (4th G r. March 12, 1997) (unpublished case)
(testinony that defendant in a drug case tied up and beat w tness
in order prevent her fromcalling police was intertwined with the
drug of fense and properly admtted).
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And, the testinony regarding the beating of Virginia Navarro's
husband al so portrayed how the RCO ensured its control over its
drug turf. Navarro's husband was attacked because R chard Ranps
did not want him on the corner of 17th and M. Vernon Streets.
Jose Colon, Jan. 29, 1992, Tr. at 180-81. The next day, after
Ri chi e Ranbs had i nstructed the famly to go to that corner and use
violence in order maintain control, and after Virginia Navarro
attenpted to approach those who had assaul ted her husband, she was
beat en by nenbers of the RCO including Maria and Eli zabet h Ranos,
both of whomhit Virginia Navarro in the face. Virginia Navarro,
Feb. 5, 1992, Tr. at 36-37; Jose Colon, Jan. 29, 1992, Tr. at 180-
81. Virginia Navarro testified that as part of the sanme incident
El i zabeth Ranpbs sl apped Navarro's 15 year-old son twce in the
face. Feb. 5, 1992, Tr. at 36. Significantly, not only did the
testinony relating to the attack on Virginia Navarro's husband
characterize the use of viol ence as a neans of achi evi ng RCO goal s,
but that testinony was al so necessary in order to set the scene for
the ensuing attack on Virginia Navarro and her son in which
petitioners participated.

Moreover, it is significant that all three of the attacks
whi ch were t he subject of the testinony to which petitioners object
were overt acts specified in the Indictnment. See Supersedi ng
Indictnment, 9§ 11 (Velasquez beating), § 20 (attack of Virginia
Navarro's husband), § 36 (Capone beating). Although evidence of
overt acts commtted in furtherance of a drug conspiracy under 21

U S.C. 8 846 need not be proven as elenents of the crine, evidence
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tending to prove those alleged actions by co-conspirators is

rel evant as evidence of the conspiracy. See United States v.

Arbol eda, 929 F.2d 858, 865-66 (1st Cr. 1991); United States v.

Thomas, 875 F.2d 559, 562 n.2 (6th Cr.), cert. denied, 493 U. S.

867 (1989); see also Price, 13 F.3d 711, 719 (3d Cir. 1994), cert.

deni ed, 115 S. Ct. 1372 (1995).

Furt her, al t hough the Court has determ ned t hat t he chal | enged
testinony is not governed by Rule 404(b), the Court's concl usion
that the testinony is adm ssible is buttressed by the Governnent's
position that the evidence was adm ssi ble for a purpose consi st ent
with Rul e 404(b). Evidence of other bad acts may be adm ssible if
that testinony is not offered to prove a person's character, but is
of fered for anot her purpose as provi ded by Rul e 404(b). See United
States v. Balter, 91 F.3d 427, 436-37 (3d Cir.) (holding that

testinony that nurderer for hire had previously commtted nurder
for paynent and would do it agai n because he needed the noney was
rel evant to defendant's notive and preparation and was therefore

adm ssi bl e under Rul e 404(b)), cert. denied, 117 S. C. 518 (1996);

United States v. Price, 13 F.3d at 718-19 (concluding that there

was sufficient reason, i ndependent of character, for the adm ssion
of evidence that defendant was previously arrested for possession
of a gun because the prior gun incident took place during the span
of a drug conspiracy and the i ndi ct nent charged that nmenbers of the
conspiracy carried guns in order to protect thenselves and their
busi ness, intimdate rivals, and "inflict violence upon rival drug

deal ers").
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The Governnment maintains that the testinony concerning the
violence was admi ssible "in anticipation of an attack on the
credibility of the cooperating witness."” See Governnent's Response
to Maria Ranps' Petition at 10; Governnent's Response to Elizabeth

Ranps' Petition at 8. Such a tactic is proper. In United States

v. MIller, 895 F.2d 1431 (D.C. GCr.), cert. denied, 498 U S. 825

(1990), the court, faced wwth asimlar situation, ruledthat where
the Governnent could "fairly anticipate" defendant's strategy of
attacking the credibility of the cooperating w tness the Gover nnment
was entitled to "preenpt this line of argument™ through rel evant
bad acts evidence. Id. at 1435 & n.9 (internal quotation and
citations omtted). Thus, the challenged testinony woul d not have
been barred by Rule 404(b) even if the Court had not ruled that
Rul e 404(b) was inapplicable.

In sum the challenged testinony enphasized the violent
wor ki ngs of the RCO where brutality was an indi spensabl e part of
the business and was used to protect the organi zation's drugs,
profits, and turf. As such, the testinony about violence was
evi dence inextricably intertwined with, and thus evidence of acts
in furtherance of and intrinsic to, the conspiracy. The Court
therefore concludes that Rule 404(b) does not apply to the

testi nony about the three violent incidents. ?®

Petitioners maintain that adnission of the challenged
evi dence woul d be barred under United States v. H nelwight, 42
F.3d 777 (3d Cr. 1994). |In Hnelwight the Third Grcuit
expl ai ned that in deciding whether to admt "other acts" evidence
under Rul e 404(b) the evidence nust be relevant to an issue
actually being controverted. |d. at 781-82. Thus, the Court in
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2. Adm ssibility of Chall enged Testinony - Rule 403

Al t hough the challenged testinony is not barred by Rule

404(b), it still nust satisfy Rule 403. United States v. Hans, 738
F.2d 88, 95 (3d Gr. 1984). Under Rul e 403, rel evant evi dence may
be "excluded if its probative value is substantially outwei ghed by
t he danger of unfair prejudice.” Fed.R Evid. 403. "Rule 403 does
not as arule prohibit the governnent frompresenting its strongest

possi bl e case against crimnal defendants."” United States V.

Eufrasio, 935 F. 2d 553, 573 (3d CGr.), cert. denied sub nom, |done

V. United States, 502 U S 925 (1991). "The term 'unfair

prejudice,' as to a crimnal defendant, speaks to the capacity of
some concededly relevant evidence to lure the factfinder into
declaring guilt on a ground different from proof specific to the

of fense charged.” Od Chief v. United States, 117 S. C. 644, 650

(1997). Thus, in applying the Rul e 403 test the Court "nust assess
the 'genuine need for the chall enged evidence and bal ance that
necessity against the risk that the information will influence the

jury to convict on inproper grounds.'" United States v. Sriyuth,

98 F.3d 739, 747-48 (3d Cr. 1996) (quoting United States v.

Scarfo, 850 F.2d 1015, 1019 (3d Cir. 1988)); see also AOd Chief,

Hi nmel wri ght concl uded that the Governnent's introduction of

evi dence of other bad acts commtted by defendant in order to
prove the defendant's subjective intent was not permn ssible
because the defendant's specific intent was not an el enent of the
crime charged and was not logically relevant. Id. at 782-83; see
also United States v. Brown, 3 F.3d 673, 681 n.8 (3d Gr.), cert.
deni ed, 510 U.S. 1017 (1993). However, H nelwight is inapposite
to the case at bar; the evidence at issue in this case was

rel evant because it was in furtherance of and intrinsic to the
charged conspiracy.
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117 S. C. at 650-52.

Petitioners maintain that the jury may have been prone to
prejudge petitioners based upon the detailed violent acts which
were the subject of the challenged testinony, with nost of which
petitioners were not directly involved, or based upon petitioners’
associ ation with those who commtted such acts. See Menorandum of
Law, appended to Maria Ranbs' Supplenental Petition, at 11;
Menor andum of Law, appended to Elizabeth Ranps' Suppl enent al
Petition, at 9-10. However, the Court finds that the evidence was
genui nely necessary, and that any prejudicial effect of such
testinony on the jury did not substantially outweigh its probative
val ue.

As already detailed, the evidence was probative in
denmonstrating the workings of the RCO and the extent to which its

menbers went to protect its drugs, profits and turf. See Chin, 83

F.3d at 88. Petitioners held a | eadership or supervisory position
in the RCO knew about its violent activities, and participated in

attacks of others. See United States v. Adans, 759 F.2d 1099

1108-09 (3d Cir.) (explaining that possession of weapons, even
t hough t hey coul d "suggest a picture of violence tothe jury," "had
probati ve val ue as evidence of the |large scale of the [narcotics]
conspiracy and the type of protection the conspirators felt they

needed to protect their operation"), cert. denied, 474 U S. 971

(1985); accord United States v. Pungtore, 910 F.2d 1084, 1152 (3d

Cr. 1990), cert. denied, 500 U S. 915 (1991). Additionally, not

only did the challenged evidence establish the nagnitude and
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di sci pline of the conspiracy, but as previously discussed, it also
tended to establish three overt acts specified in the indictnent.
As a result, such testinony was probative as evidence of the

conspiracy. See United States v. Arboleda, 929 F.2d 858, 865-66

(st Cir. 1991); United States v. Thomas, 875 F.2d 559, 562 n.2

(6th Gr.), cert. denied, 493 U S. 867 (1989).

Al t hough t he evi dence may have been graphic, there was not hi ng
"unfair" in presenting it to the jury. The evidence was
illustrative of the rigor of the enforcenment utilized by the RCO
and petitioners thenselves. See Thai, 29 F.3d at 813 (concl udi ng
that graphic detail of 30 m nute beating and the "copi ous fl ow of
bl ood" which still stained the walls of the room several nonths
| at er was probative of disciplineinposed by enterprise | eaders and
t hus out wei ghed the danger of prejudice); Chandler, 996 F.2d at
1101-02 (holding that evidence of threats and subsequent
di sappearances was not "unfairly" prejudicial where it was
probative of defendant's attenpt to protect his organization).
"Moreover, it is well known that continued exposure to even
enotion-arousing [evidence] tends to reduce [its] effect.” United

States v. Cahal ane, 560 F.2d 601, 607 (3d Cr. 1977), cert. denied,

434 U.S. 1045 (1978). 1%

“The argunent that other evidence could have been used to
prove the extent to which the RCOwent to further its conspiracy
does not pass nuster. The chall enged evidence, for the sane
reasons that it evokes dangers of prejudice, also is probative
because wi thout the detail to which petitioners now object the
Governnent coul d not have properly painted a picture of the
wor ki ngs of the RCO
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Nor does the fact that Elizabeth Ranpbs did not directly
participate in any of the attacks which were the subject of the
chal | enged testinony or that Maria Ranpbs did not take part in two
of the three episodes render such testinony unfairly prejudicial.
First, although neither participated in the attack on Navarro's
husband, description of that event was necessary in order to
properly relate the context of the beating of Virginia Navarro the
next day, in which both petitioners partook, and the beating of
Navarro's son, also that day, in which Elizabeth participated.
Al so, Maria Ranpbs contributed to the attack of Anthony Vel asquez.
Further, there was other testinony at trial regarding acts of
brutality in which petitioners took part or condoned. For exanpl e,
Mari a Ranps attacked an elderly woman as Elizabeth Ranps sinply
observed near by. Hayde Rivera, Feb. 11, 1992, Tr. at 73.
Moreover, David Serrano testified that Mria Ranps excl ained:
"anybody that nesses with any of ny sons, |['ll put a ticket on
their ass." Jan. 31, 1992, Tr. at 137. ™

Significantly, the Governnent never suggested that petitioners
committed any of the specific acts of violence which were the
subj ect of the challenged testinony, excepting only the attack on

Ant hony Vel asquez in which Maria participated. See United States

v. Brady, 26 F.3d 282, 287-88 (2d Cir.) (where governnent

“To the extent that there may have been nore evidence
introduced at trial describing violent incidents in which one
partici pated as conpared to those in which the other
partici pated, prejudice should not be inferred just because
evi dence adduced is nore danaging to sone defendants than others.
See Eufrasio, 935 F.2d at 568.
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i ntroduced evi dence of nurders comm tted by co-conspirators to show
exi stence and nature of conspiracy but made no suggesti on that
def endants comm tted any of the nurders at issue, the court found

that the evidence was not unduly prejudicial), cert. denied, 513

US 894 (1994). Rather, inits rebuttal argunment the Governnent
explained to the jury that petitioners had not engaged in such
epi sodes (excepting, of course, Maria' s participation in the
beati ng of Vel asquez). See Feb. 12, 1992, Tr. at 137-38 (stressing
tothejury that it was not to "cast any aspersions” on petitioners
based on "bad t hi ngs done by ot her people"” and that the jury was to
"sift what concerns [petitioners] from what doesn't concern
"[petitioners]"). For exanple, the Governnent specified that
petitioners "had absolutely nothing to do with" the attack on
Capone. 1d.

Finally, "it is difficult to conclude that there is a
prejudicial spillover where, as here, there is substantial

i ndependent evidence of [petitioners'] qguilt.” United States v.

Sandi ni, 888 F.2d 300, 307 (3d Cir. 1989), cert. denied sub nom,
Thonson v. United States, 494 U. S. 1089 (1990). In building a case

of overwhel m ng evidence of guilt, the Governnent presented the
testinony of 20 w tnesses, including 13 cooperating w tnesses.
This plethora of wtnesses testified to the |eadership and
supervisory roles petitioners played in the organization. The
W t nesses detailed how Mari a Ranbs' honme was the nerve center of
all activities. From her hone, Maria Ranps collected all sales

revenue and circulated orders and instructions. El i zabet h
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supervi sed the packaging of cocaine for all |locations, and
occasi onal |y pi cked up proceeds and del i vered drugs. Torebut this
evi dence, only Elizabeth Ranps testified, contradicting herself on
numer ous occasions. After only four hours of deliberations, the
jury convicted petitioners on all counts.

Thus, in light of the unusual facts of this case, the Court
concl udes that the danger of unfair prejudice did not substantially
outweigh the probative value of the evidence.'? Al t hough
petitioners argue that the record was poi soned because t he evi dence
was overly prejudicial as it tenpted the jury to nake bad character
or association inferences, any risk that the jury would have been
prone to convict petitioners due to any i nferences they m ght nake
fromthe chall enged testi nony was outwei ghed by the i nportance of
the testinony and the overwhel m ng independent evidence agai nst

petitioners. See United States v. Scarfo, 850 F.2d 1015, 1020 (3d

Cr. 1988) (explaining that although "evidence of the defendant's
participation in various nmurders would nornmally be excludabl e as
irrelevant and unduly prejudicial,"” under the unique facts of the

case the evidence was essential to the governnent's case); see al so

?petitioners argue that the case at bar is controlled by
United States v. Col onbo, 869 F.2d 149 (2d Cir. 1989). In
Col onbo, the Court held that the adm ssion of evidence of the
rape and sodony of a robbery victim when defendant did not
participate in the robbery nor know that a sexual assault would
occur during the robbery, sinply as "background" information was
error because the grave danger of unfair prejudice substantially

out wei ghed the slight rel evance of the evidence. ld. at 153.
However, in the case at bar, the chall enged evi dence was not
adm tted as background evidence, but to illustrate the paraneters

of the conspiracy, see supra. As such, the evidence is nmuch nore
probative than that in Col onbo.
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United States v. Sriyuth, 98 F.3d 739, 748 (3d Cir. 1996) (finding

t hat evi dence of defendant having raped his ki dnapping victimwas
genui nely needed to prove t he ki dnappi ng charge); Church, 955 F. 2d
at 700 (concluding that in proving that defendant conspired to
nmur der, probative value of evidence of a separate conspiracy to
mur der defendant's partner outweighed its prejudicial effect);
Eufrasio, 935 F.2d at 573 (concluding that the relevance of
evi dence of uncharged Mafia crinmes was so substantial as to of fset
its potential to cause prejudice to defendants). As such, the
testinony was not barred by Rule 403, and, because the testinony
al so was not precluded by Rule 404(b), petitioners' counsel were
not ineffective for failing to file notions in limne or for

failing to object to that evidence at trial

3. Counsels' Failure to Seek a Limting Instruction

Al t hough the Court finds that the chall enged testinony was not
barred by Rules 404(b) or 403, the Court nust still address
petitioners' clains that their counsel were ineffective for not
requesting a cautionary instruction from the Court immed ately
after the chall enged testinony or for not submtting to the Court
a jury instruction advising the jury of the limted purposes for
whi ch they coul d consi der the testinony. Federal Rul e of Evidence
105 provides that "[w] hen evidence which is adm ssible as to one
party or for one purpose but not adm ssible as to another party or
for another purpose is admtted, the court, upon request, shal

restrict the evidence to its proper scope and instruct the jury
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accordingly.” Fed.R Evid. 105.

The Court concl udes under the second prong of Strickl and that

even if counsel didrequest alimting instruction and even if the
jury had been given an instruction from the Court--either
i mredi ately after the chall enged testinony or as part of the jury
charge--in light of the substantial evidence against petitioners
and in view of the fact that the Governnent explained to the jury
that it should not consider the evidence for inproper purposes,
there is not a reasonable probability that the result would have
been different.™ Thus, the Court need not reach the first prong

of Strickland; that is, it is not necessary for the Court to

det erm ne whet her counsel were deficient in failing to request a
limting instruction to the jury. Counsel were not
constitutionally ineffective for failing to take such action, and
petitioners' clains will be denied, because there is no show ng of
prej udi ce.

Petitioners were not prejudiced by the absence of a limting
instruction fromthe Court because, upon wei ghing all the evidence
presented at trial, the Court concludes that there was weighty

i ndependent evi dence of guilt, see supra at 21. Twenty w tnesses,

13Cf. United States v. Werme, 939 F.2d 108, 114-16 (3d Cir.
1991) (concluding that where evidence of a co-conspirators’
guilty plea is prejudicial to the defendant on trial, the court's
failure to give a limting instruction upon request was error,
but harm ess error), cert. denied, 502 U S. 1092 (1992); United
States v. Adans, 759 F.2d 1099 (3d Gr.) (holding that the court
did not err in not giving a limting instruction where defendants
did not request such an instruction and did not suffer prejudice
fromthe lack of the instruction), cert. denied, 474 U S. 971
(1985).
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i ncl udi ng 13 cooperating witnesses, testified to the central roles
petitioners played in the RCO fromcollecting noney and packagi ng
drugs to wusing violence to protect that noney and drugs.
Petitioners were convicted on all counts after only four hours of
jury deliberation

Mor eover, the absence of alimting instruction fromthe Court
di d not prejudice petitioners because the Governnent did not argue
that petitioners engaged in the attack on Capone or Virginia
Navarr o' s husband, that Elizabeth Ranos participated inthe beating
of Anthony Vel asquez, or that petitioners were likely to have
committed the crinmes charged sinply because they associated with
t hose co-conspirators who engaged in such acts. To the contrary,
t he Governnent explained to the jury that petitioners should not be

j udged based on acts which they did not coonmit. Cf. United States

v. Brady, 26 F.3d 282, 287, 288 (2d Cr.) (finding that there was
no indication that the governnent attenpted to inply that
def endants had comm tted any of the nurders which were the subject

of the testinony at issue), cert. denied, 513 U S 894 (1994).

Specifically, the Governnent toldthejuryinits rebuttal argunent
that the chall enged testi nony regarding the viol ent acts was not to
be considered by the jurors as proof of acts commtted by
petitioners or in order to taint their character:

As far as the bad things done by other people, | don't really
think we admitted those to cast any aspersions on these
def endant s because you know f romseei ng how cr oss-exam nati on
works that if we hadn't raised them they would have. [If we
didn't ask David Serrano sonething like -- about the teeth
pul ling, sonething that these defendants had absolutely
nothing to do with, you can be sure that the first questions
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on cross-exam nation, since they have all this discovery and
t hey know everyt hi ng about these people, would be, aren't you
somebody who pulled out sonebody's teeth with a pair of
pliers? W knowthat's inportant tojuries in consideringthe
testinony of witnesses, and that's why we brought it up. W
know that you are able to sift what concerns them from what
doesn't concern them You know what evidence was directed
agai nst Maria and El i zabeth Ranos, and it's that overwhel m ng
evi dence that proves this case.

February 12, 1992, Tr. at 137-38 (enphasis added).
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[1l1. Petitioner's daimRegarding Rule 35

At the Hearing on the Mdtions held on March 14, 1997, the
petitioners sought review of the Governnent's decision not tofile
a notion under Federal Rule of Crimnal Procedure 35(b) to reduce
the sentences inposed upon them Petitioners claim that the
Governnment should be conpelled to file such a notion.

By Order dated June 22, 1995, the Court denied Maria and
El i zabet h Ranps' Motion to Conpel the Governnent to File Rule 35
Motions to Reduce Sentence w thout prejudice to their right to
suppl enent their Mtions under 8§ 2255 by adding that issue. By
| etter dated Decenber 13, 1996 counsel for Mria Ranos indicated
t hat he expected to raise at the hearing his client's "inten[tion]
to seek an order conpelling the governnent to file a notion
pursuant to Fed. R Crim P. 35." During scheduling conferences held
on Decenber 17, 1996 and March 12, 1997, counsel for Elizabeth
Ranos expl ai ned that he al so expected to rai se that i ssue on behal f
of his client at the March 14, 1997 heari ng.

Rul e 35(b) provides, in relevant part, as follows:
The court, on notion of the CGovernnent nade wthin one year
after inposition of the sentence, nay reduce a sentence to
refl ect a defendant's subsequent substanti al assistanceinthe
investigation or prosecution of another person who has
commtted an offense. . . . The court may consider a
government notion to reduce a sentence nmade one year or nore
after inposition of the sentence where the defendant's
substantial assistance involves information or evidence not
known by t he def endant until one year or nore after inposition
of sentence.

Fed. R CrimP. 35(b). The decisionto file a Rule 35(b) notion is

wi thinthe Governnent's sol e di scretion, except that the Gover nnent
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can be conpelled to file a Rule 35(b) notion if it refuses to file

such a notion in bad faith. See United States v. Candela, No. 88-

919, 1992 W 34148, *3 n.3 (S.D.N. Y. Feb. 18, 1992)); see also
Medina v. United States, No. 89-211, 1995 W 33098 (E.D. Pa. Jan.

25, 1995). Thus, absent such a finding of bad faith, petitioners'
contention that the Governnent should be conpelled to file a Rule
35(b) notion will be rejected.

At the hearing on March 14, 1997, the Governnent stated that
al t hough the sentences i nposed upon the petitioners were harsh, it
woul d not file a Rule 35(b) notion. The Governnent expl ai ned t hat,
on the present state of the record, it chose not to file a Rule
35(b) notion because petitioners refused to cooperate pre-trial,
unl i ke every other defendant charged in the drug conspiracy, and
failed to provide substanti al assistance to the Governnent--either
wi t hi n one year after inposition of their sentences, or thereafter,
i ncluding at a Decenber 1996 proffer session. Based on those facts
the Governnent maintained that it was not acting in bad faith.
March 14, 1997, Tr. at 32. Mreover, at the hearing counsel for
petitioners conceded that the Court | acked authority to conpel the

Government to file such a notion. 1d. at 17-18, 22; see also id.

at 32, 49.

The Court agrees that the Governnent did not act in bad faith,;
in fact, the Court believes that the Governnent gave petitioners
every opportunity to cooperate. Thus, because the Governnent did
not act in bad faith, the Court cannot conpel the Governnent to

file a Rule 35 notion. Petitioners' claim will therefore be
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deni ed.
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| V. Concl usi on

In sum the Court will deny the Petitions of Maria and
El i zabet h Ranbs. The Court concl udes that because the chal |l enged
testi nony concerning viol ent acts was not barred by Rul es 404(b) or
403, counsel for petitioners were not ineffective for failing to
fileamtioninlimneto preclude the Government fromintroduci ng
such testinony or for failing to nove to object to the adm ssion of
that testinmony. And, because, in light of both the overwhel m ng
evi dence agai nst petitioners and the Governnent's expl anation that
such testinony was not to be considered for inproper purposes, the
Court concludes that a limting instruction would not have rai sed
a reasonabl e probability that the result woul d have been di fferent
and that petitioners' counsel therefore were not ineffective for
failing to request such aninstruction. Wth respect to the second
i ssue raised by petitioners, the Court rules that the Governnent
cannot be conpdl M etHE dUNi TED ESTAITES 33 SRl ©h. COURT
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ORDER

AND NOW to wt, this 16th day of July, 1997, upon
consi deration of the Mdtion of Petitioner, Miria Ranos, Under 28
U S C 8 2255 to Vacate, Set Aside or Correct Sentence (Docunent
No. 142, filed May 17, 1995), the Motion of Petitioner, Elizabeth
Ranpbs, Under 28 U S.C. 8§ 2255 to Vacate, Set Aside or Correct
Sentence (Docunment No. 47, filed May 17, 1995), the Suppl enent al
Petition of Maria Ranos (Docunent No. 149, filed Nov. 6, 1995), the
Suppl enental Petition of Elizabeth Ranos (Docunent No. 49, filed
Cct. 6, 1995), the Response of the Governnment in Opposition to the
Motion of Petitioner Maria Ranos (Docunent No. 150, filed Nov. 13,
1995), and the Response of the CGovernnent in QOpposition to the
Motion of Petitioner Elizabeth Ranos (Docunent No. 50, filed Cct.
25, 1995), for the reasons set forthin the attached Menorandum | T
| S ORDERED that the Mdtion of Petitioner, Muria Ranps, Under 28
US C 8 2255 to Vacate, Set Aside or Correct Sentence and the
Motion of Petitioner, Elizabeth Ranps, Under 28 U S.C. § 2255 to
Vacate, Set Aside or Correct Sentence are DEN ED.

BY THE COURT:

JAN E. DuUBA S, J.
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